Against Fatima

By Richard Joseph Michael Ibranyi

"Satan himself transformeth himself into an angel of light." (2 Corinthians 11:14)

Table of Contents

LETTER FROM RG TO RJMI	. 3
RJMI'S REPLY	. 4
Excerpt from a Fatima message from the false Mary	. 4
Some reasons why the Fatima apparition of 1917 is of the Devil	. 4
The false Mary did not condemn the apostate antipopes	. 4
Russia is not the worst evil that needs to be converted	. 5
The dogma of faith is not preserved in Portugal	. 6
Makes you think the Great Apostasy did not begin until Vatican II	. 8
1917 was a year in which many evil things happened	. 8
On the false miracle of the sun	. 9
On the false Sr. Lucia	10
Many of the Fatimaists are worthy of being deceived	11
On Lucia, Jacinta, and Francesco	11

Letter from RG to RJMI

Dear Mr. Ibranyi,

I am aware that you regard the apparitions at Fatima to be false (I read this in your recent book). But I have a question about the children of Fatima. I understand that you're not saved just because you're a child, but is it possible that God brought good out of evil? I am referring to the two youngest, Jacinta and Francisco, who died very early and did many penances for souls. I am not quite sure of your reasons that Fatima is bad since your statement was just that it is a false apparition along with LaSalette. But is there a chance that they would not have understood the gravity of the situation and that it was indeed a devil speaking to them? I mean, God could have allowed the devil to show them hell so that they would freak out and do penances. I understand that they were duped by the devil, but due to their age, would they have been bound to understand what the apparition was telling them about the church and all? I understand you are most busy so take your time on a response... I just wanted to get this out there as it is interesting to me. I read somewhere you wrote that God allows bad things to happen because the people deserve it and are worthy of being deceived. But the messages about the church would probably have gone over their heads and only helped to confirm the adults around them, and now in our generation, in their falsities. Again, my question is only about the children and whether or not they would have had a chance to be saved and if God could have brought good out of evil. Sorry for my rambling...

Thanks!!

Sincerely,

RG

RJMI's Reply

Dear RG,

Excerpt from a Fatima message from the false Mary

The false Mary, the Anti-Mary, appeared six times at Fatima in 1917, once a month from the 5th month, 13th day, to the 10th month, 13th day. Part of the message delivered on the 7th month, 13th day, is as follows:

"...When you shall see a night illuminated by an unknown light, know that it is a great sign that God gives you that He is going to punish the world for its crimes by means of war, of hunger, and of persecution of the Church and of the Holy Father. To prevent this I come to ask the consecration of Russia to my Immaculate Heart and the Communion of reparation on the first Saturdays. If they listen to my requests, Russia will be converted and there will be peace. If not she will scatter her errors through the world, provoking wars and persecutions of the Church. The good will be martyred, the Holy Father will have much to suffer, various nations will be annihilated. In the end my Immaculate Heart will triumph. The Holy Father will consecrate Russia to me, and it will be converted and a certain period of peace will be granted to the world."

Some reasons why the Fatima apparition of 1917 is of the Devil

The false Mary did not condemn the apostate antipopes

The false Mary did not condemn the apostate antipopes nor did she condemn the crimes they committed or allowed. But instead, the false Mary refers to them as holy popes.

If the Blessed Virgin Mary appears in order to teach a dogma¹ or doctrine² of the Catholic Church and does not mention anything about popes, then the apparition could be true because the sole intention of the apparition is to teach a dogma or a doctrine. For example, the apparition and messages of the Blessed Virgin Mary at Lourdes, France, given to St. Bernadette Soubirous in 1858, may be true. Its sole purpose was to teach the doctrine of the Immaculate Conception, and she did not say anything about popes.

The fact that the Blessed Virgin Mary came to teach the doctrine of the Immaculate Conception is one proof that Pius IX was an apostate antipope. Two years before Mary taught the doctrine of the Immaculate Conception at Lourdes in 1856, Pius IX attempted to infallibly define it. His act was invalid because he was an antipope. The Blessed Virgin Mary, knowing this and knowing that this would eventually be made manifest, came two years later in order to teach the doctrine.

¹ Teaching a dogma is not the same as infallibly defining a dogma. Only popes or the unanimous consensus of the Church Fathers infallibly define dogmas.

² Doctrine, in this sense, means an article of faith that has not yet been infallibly defined.

Russia is not the worst evil that needs to be converted

The false Mary of Fatima condemned only communistic Russia but did not condemn the worst evildoers in the world: the USA, apostate Europe, other Western democracies, and the apostate Jews who controlled the world and were working to bring about their future illegal State of Israel by which they will bring the Antichrist to power.

Hence the part of the message which says that Russia will spread her errors to the world is a lie and diversion. It presents communistic Russia (which no longer exists) as the big bad guy instead of the USA, apostate Europe, other Western democracies, apostate Jews, and apostate Israel, who are the main evildoers as we see today. Hence this false Mary is a harlot for not condemning these harlots. It presents the homosexual, pot-smoking, drug-addicted, feminist, idolatrous, witchcraft-loving, corrupt, and criminal-ridden USA and other Western democracies as the good guys. It presents apostate Europe as good instead of faithless, heretical, grossly immoral, apostate, and idolatrous. And it does not present the future apostate Israel, which will be an abomination of desolation where it does not belong, as the greatest threat and greatest evil of all. Instead, only Russia is mentioned as evil—and the worst evil in the world.

The Fatima message is also false because communistic Russia no longer exists. The Russia of today is not communistic or atheistic but is Czarist. Vladimir Putin is a fervent Czarist and member of the schismatic and heretical Russian Orthodox Church and is moving Russia toward that system of belief. Current-day Russia is less faithless, less immoral, and less corrupt than the USA, apostate Europe, other Western democracies, and apostate Israel. For example, Putin jailed three women for blaspheming the Blessed Virgin Mary,³ banned homosexual parades and indoctrination, banned Russian children from being adopted by immoral Westerners, banned feminism, and banned the breakup of the traditional family unit. And one of the main reasons why Russia is able to do these good things is because it works vigilantly to eradicate the power and influence of apostate Jews and Western NGOs (non-governmental organizations), which massively corrupt and enslave every nation in which they are allowed to have power and influence.

Because of these good things that Vladimir Putin's Russia is doing, the Catholic God gives it many graces. And I believe that the Catholic God will use it, as He used pagan Babylon and its pagan King Nabuchodonosor, to oppose the main evildoers in the world and will eventually convert it to Catholicism. So beware of the diversion, the bait and switch, in which the Devil has you looking elsewhere for the main evildoers in the world instead of where they actually are, right under the noses of those who live in the USA, apostate Europe, other Western democracies, and apostate Israel.

³ Whereas in apostate France, bare-breasted women desecrated churches and were not jailed. Instead, the men that removed them from the church were fined and charged with brutality for removing them too roughly. (See *Saint John the Baptist Website*: Articles: Miscellaneous: "Russia Appropriately Jailed Members of Blasphemous Feminist Punk Rock Band" and "France 'double standards': Prison for Mosque offence, fines for Femen church affront.")

The dogma of faith is not preserved in Portugal

By Mary's Little Remnant

Jern Portugal se comercia sumpre o Vo. Jerna da fé etc.

"In Portugal, the dogma of the faith will always be preserved, etc." Those were the words recorded in the *Fourth Memoir*⁴ of Sister Lucia Santos, one of the three children deceived by the false apparitions at Fatima in 1917. This message is a bold-face lie! Where is the faith in Portugal, not only today but even then in 1917 and since that time? Who is teaching it? Who is condemning heresies, denouncing heretics and apostates, exposing the Great Apostasy, and teaching the full deposit of the Catholic faith in Portugal is just as faithless and immoral as the rest of the world. Portugal is just another apostate non-Catholic country that has embraced the Apostate Renaissance Church and the Apostate Vatican II Church.

One proof that Portugal—even the very site of Fatima itself— has not preserved the "dogma of the faith" is the event that took place on 5/5/2004 and which was broadcast by SIC Internacional, Portugal's National Television news. SIC reported an "uncommon ecumenical experience" that took place at the very site of the false apparitions of Fatima.⁵ On that morning a group of sixty Hindus, invited by the Shrine Rector apostate Luciano Guerra, took a bus from Lisbon to the Fatima shrine where they were welcomed by the local apostate bishop and chanted pagan prayers and offered flowers at the shrine altar.⁶ The SIC announcer went on to explain the reason for the visit, saying, "This is the day dedicated to the greatest of all female deities. She is called the Most Holy Mother, the goddess Devi, the deity of Nature who many Portuguese Hindus also find in Fatima." Apostate Luciano Guerra defended the Hindus' visit to Fatima, which, if the site had been a Catholic shrine, would have been a desecration of a Catholic place. He stated:

Apostate Luciano Guerra, Fatima Shrine Rector, *SIC Internacional*, 5/5/2004: "It is obvious that these civilizations and religions are quite different. But I think that there is a common background to all religions. There is a common background that...is born from the common humanity we all possess. And it is very important that we recognize this common background, because, due to the clashes of the differences, we sometimes forget our equality. These meetings give us that occasion."

⁴ Lucia's "Third" and "Fourth" memoirs were released to the public by Apostate Antipope John Paul II in 2000 but were actually recorded in 1941. These documents are available on the Vatican website: <u>http://www.vatican.va/roman_curia/congregations/cfaith/doc_doc_index.htm</u>.

⁵ SIC Internacional, 5/5/2004.

⁶ Hinduism Today, October/November/December, 2004. "Diaspora: Portugal, Interfaith Flap In Fatima."



SIC Internacional announcer, 5/5/2004



Hindu priest chanting at the altar in front of the Fatima statue



Video photo of Hindu women approaching the shrine altar with flowers



Distance view of the Hindu priest chanting in front of the altar

Besides *not* preserving "the dogma of the faith," Portugal has also not preserved natural-law dogmas on morals. According to *Wikipedia*, "Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) rights in Portugal have improved substantially in the past decade and are now among the best in the world." Many of its major cities are well-known for their wildly immoral nightlife.⁷ And Portugal also is not exempt from scandalous clerical sex abuse:

NSNBC International, "Priestly Beast: Portuguese Priest Charged with Sexual Abuse in Hospital," by Christof Lehmann, 7/16/2014: "A Portuguese priest and an accomplice have been charged with sexual abuse of patients in hospitals across Portugal, run by the Catholic 'Hospitaller Order of Saint John of God'. The crimes were committed between 2004 and 2010 in the Catholic Church-run hospitals..."

And drugs which were illegal are now perfectly legal. According to João Goulão, Portuguese national drug coordinator:

"One gram of heroin, two grams of cocaine, 25 grams of marijuana leaves or five grams of hashish: These are the drug quantities one can legally purchase and possess in Portugal, carrying them through the streets of Lisbon in a pants pocket, say, without fear of repercussion. MDMA—the active ingredient in ecstasy—and amphetamines—including speed and meth—can also be possessed in amounts up to one gram. That's roughly enough of each of these drugs to last 10 days."⁸

So although Portugal is no better or worse than many other countries, it definitely has lost the "dogma of the faith" as well as embraced gross sins of immorality.

⁷ Portugal, by Regis St. Louis, Robert Landon, et al. Publisher: Lonely Planet; 6th edition, 3/2007. C. 11, "Entertainment," p. 119.

⁸ Spiegel Online International, "Portugal, 12 Years after Decriminalizing Drugs," by Wiebke Hollersen, 3/2013.

Hence the part of the Fatima message which says that the dogma of faith will be preserved in Portugal is a lie and a diversion to prevent men from looking in the real place where the dogma of faith is being preserved in these final days, which is Truth or Consequences, New Mexico, USA, by Mary's Little Remnant.

Makes you think the Great Apostasy did not begin until Vatican II

The third and secret message of Fatima by the false Mary supposedly says that a Great Apostasy will occur if the consecration of Russia to the Immaculate Heart of Mary is not done by a certain time.

Hence the false Mary wants you to believe there was no Great Apostasy before the apostate Second Vatican Council, which ended in 1965. In others words, all was fine before then, or at least not seriously evil. Yet the evidence overwhelmingly proves that the Great Apostasy began in 1033 and progressed in evil from that moment forward. (See RJMI book *The Great Apostasy*.) The false Mary said nothing about the idols, false gods, devils, and immoral images that desecrated Catholic places from the 11th century onward. (See RJMI book *The Desecration of Catholic Places*.) She said nothing about the many nominal Catholics who promoted or allowed the following things: the glorification of philosophy by the scholastics, the glorification of mythology, astrology, simony, usury, homosexuality, pedophilia, non-judgmentalism, non-punishmentalism, the salvation heresy, and many other heresies. And she said nothing about the apostate antipopes who promoted, allowed, or did not sufficiently condemn these things nor sufficiently denounce the offenders.

But the false Mary says, "Just consecrate Russia to the Immaculate Heart of Mary and all will be fine and peace will prevail." No need for God to punish the nominal Catholics who have been perpetrating massive blasphemies, sacrileges, and crimes against the faith and morals since 1033. It is a dogma that God always punishes evildoers for their sins, in one way or another and to one extent or another, depending on the severity of their sins and whether or not they repent, just as He punished the faithless Jews during the Old Covenant era, time and time again. But the false Mary says, "Just consecrate Russia to the Immaculate Heart of Mary and all will be fine and peace will prevail." No need for nominal Catholics to repent, convert, and abjure from their massive crimes against faith and morals, which their apostate fathers have been committing since 1033. And no need for them to amend their lives by becoming good Catholics. Just consecrate Russia, the big bad guy and scapegoat, to the Immaculate Heart and all will be fine—no need to be punished, repent, abjure, confess, or amend your lives.

1917 was a year in which many evil things happened

The year 1917 was a very successful year for Satan and his cronies who are bringing the Antichrist to power. In 1917 the following evil things happened:

1. While the British were in the process of ousting the Ottoman Turks from Palestine in 1917, the foreign secretary of Britain, Arthur Balfour, signed a treaty, known as the Balfour Declaration, with the apostate, Zionist Jews on the 2nd day of the 11th month in the year 1917, promising

them a national homeland in Israel. On the 8th day of the 12th month, 1917, Britain took Jerusalem and by 1918 took all of Israel. The Balfour Declaration is one of the most evil declarations in the history of mankind. It violated God's commandment that apostate Jews should not have a homeland in Israel until they accept Jesus Christ and become Catholic.⁹ Hence the apostate Jews' possession of Israel is an abomination of desolation in a place where it does not belong.¹⁰ The Jews needed possession of Israel in order to bring the Antichrist to power in Jerusalem in the Third Temple. Thus Britain was doing the work of the Antichrist.

- 2. The rabid anti-Catholic Mexican Constitution of Queretaro was promulgated by Venustiano Carranza in 1917 on the 5th day of the 2nd month.¹¹
- 3. The Russian Revolution, orchestrated by apostate Jews and Freemasons whose home base was New York, USA, overthrew Czar Nicholas and replaced his lesser-evil government, which promoted the ideals of the schismatic and heretical Russian Orthodox Church, with a much greater evil government that enforced the sinful form of communism and an atheistic ideology.
- 4. The false apparitions of Fatima in Portugal, which deceived many, occurred in 1917 from the 5th to the 10th month.
- 5. The invalid and heretical Code of Canon Law was completed.
- 6. Apostate antipopes reduced the Holy Days of Obligation from 38 to 8 and established the reduced list in 1917.
- 7. The apostate Catholic J. R. R. Tolkien began writing his modern mythological and thus idolatrous and heretical works. This one was titled *The Book of Lost Tales*, the first version of *The Simarillion*. Hence his Middle-earth was first chronicled.

On the false miracle of the sun

The so-called miracle of the sun moving closer to the earth on the 13th day of the 10th month, the sixth and last day of the Fatima apparitions, was a false miracle done by Satan. Jesus said,

"For there shall arise false Christs and false prophets, and shall shew great signs and wonders, insomuch as to deceive (if possible) even the elect." (Mt. 24:24)

Indeed, the so-called miracles done by the false Mary (by Satan) at Fatima in the name of the true God are one such example of great signs and wonders that can deceive even the elect. St. Paul warned that "Satan himself transformeth himself into an angel of light." (2 Cor. 11:14) Hence Satan can make himself look like Mary. Satan has power over nature if God permits. Indeed, God allowed Satan to muster up a violent wind against Job in order to destroy a house and murder Job's children:

"Then the Lord said to Satan: Behold, all that he hath is in thy hand: only put not forth thy hand upon his person. And Satan went forth from the presence of the Lord. Now upon a certain day when his [Job's] sons and daughters were eating and drinking

⁹ "Jerusalem, Jerusalem, that killest the prophets and stonest them that are sent to thee, how often would I have gathered thy children as the bird doth her brood under her wings, and thou wouldest not? Behold your house shall be left to you desolate. And I say to you, that you shall not see me till the time come when you shall say: Blessed is he that cometh in the name of the Lord." (Lk. 13:34-35) (See RJMI video Jerusalem Belongs to the Catholic Church.)

¹⁰ "And when you shall see the abomination of desolation standing where it ought not, he that readeth let him understand: then let them that are in Judea, flee unto the mountains." (Mk. 13:14)

¹¹ See Blood-Drenched Altars, by the heretic Rev. Francis Kelly, c. 17, "The Iron Man."

wine in the house of their eldest brother, there came a messenger to Job, and said: ...a violent wind came on a sudden from the side of the desert, and shook the four corners of the house, and it fell upon thy children and they are dead, and I alone have escaped to tell thee." (Job 1:12-14, 18-19)

Hence, God permitting, Satan can make the sun move closer to the earth and move in other ways. Indeed, so-called miracles of the sun are duplicated regularly in Medjugorje, Yugoslavia. The sun regularly appears to flash, spin, dance, and come closer to the earth,¹² which has been recorded on video. And many of the messages of this false Mary are explicitly heretical. Although many claim to have received messages from the false apparitions at Medjugorje, the names of the six official seers at Medjugorje are Jakov Colo, Ivan and Mirjana Dragicevic, Ivanka and Vicka Ivanković, and Marija Pavlović. Some of the bad fruits are the heretical messages which prove that "Our Lady of Medjugorje," who pays respect to false religions, is not "Our Lady" at all but the Devil:

- False seer Ivanka Ivankovic: "The Madonna always stresses that there is but one God and that people have enforced unnatural separation. One cannot truly believe, be a true Christian, if he does not respect other religions as well. You do not really believe in God if you make fun of other religions."¹³
- False seer Ivanka Ivankovic: "The Madonna said that religions are separated in the earth, but the people of all religions are accepted by her Son."¹⁴
- False seer Vicka Ivankovic: "Question: 'Is the Blessed Mother calling all people to be Christian?' Answer: 'No. The Blessed Mother says...all religions are dear to her and her Son.' "¹⁵
- False seer Jelena Vasilj: "Tell everyone, that it is you who are divided on earth. The Muslims and the Orthodox, for the same reason as Catholics, are equal before my Son and me. You are all my children... It does not suffice to belong to the Catholic Church to be saved, but it is necessary to respect the Commandments of God in following one's conscience. ...Salvation is available to everyone, without exception. Only those who refuse God deliberately are condemned."¹⁶

On the false Sr. Lucia

Evidence overwhelmingly proves that the true Sr. Lucia was replaced by an imposter. The real Sr. Lucia probably died in 1949.¹⁷ However, this is just another deception, and a deep one at that. The Devil uses deep layers of deception to deceive people. The Devil wants men to think that if evildoers went to so much trouble to get rid of the true Sr. Lucia and replace her with an imposter, then the Fatima apparition

¹² See RJMI video Against Fatima for the visual evidence. As of ##, this video is not yet available.

¹³ The Apparitions of Our Lady at Medjugorje, by Svetozar Kraljević. Publisher: Franciscan Herald Press, 1984. P. 124.

¹⁴ Ibid., p. 149.

¹⁵ The Visions of the Children, The Apparitions of the Blessed Mother at Medjugorje, by Janice T. Connell. Publisher: St. Martin's Press, 8/1992. Pt. 2, c. 8, p. 133.

¹⁶ Words from Heaven: Messages of Our Lady from Medjugorje. Publisher: Saint James Publishing, 1990. P. 131.

¹⁷ See Saint John the Baptist Website: Articles: Miscellaneous: "Excerpts from 'The Two Sister Lucys,' by the apostate Marian T. Horvat, Ph.D."

must have been true and dangerous to the plans of the evildoers. And that is what the Devil wants you to think so that you will be deceived by the false messages of Fatima. This ploy of the Devil keeps so-called conservatives who believe in Fatima satisfied and thus keeps them distracted and diverted by believing in the false messages and requests of the false Mary of Fatima.

Many of the Fatimaists are worthy of being deceived

Many of the followers of the false Mary of Fatima are worthy of being deceived because they do not put the Catholic faith above all else. Many of them put the Holy Mass and Sacraments before the Catholic faith. Many of them put family and friends before the Catholic faith. And many of them put social standing, money, luxury, popularity, worldly and temporal peace, or physical health before the Catholic faith. Because they do not put the Catholic faith first, they do not believe the truth about the extent of the crimes and criminals of the Great Apostasy. And because they do not believe the truth, God put them under the operation-of-error curse to believe lying:

"[Antichrist] Whose coming is according to the working of Satan, in all power, and signs, and lying wonders, and in all seduction of iniquity to them that perish; because they receive not the love of the truth, that they might be saved. Therefore God shall send them the operation of error, to believe lying: That all may be judged who have not believed the truth, but have consented to iniquity." (2 Thes. 2:9-11)

On Lucia, Jacinta, and Francesco

The children who participated in the false apparitions of Fatima—Lucia Santos and Jacinta and Francesco Marto—could have been saved. The false messages alone would not have caused them to be damned. Although the Fatima messages were a lie and diversion, they were not explicitly heretical, as is the case with the heretical messages of the Bayside and Medjugorje apparitions. In order to know that the Fatima messages were a lie and diversion, one would have to have knowledge of the crimes and criminals of the Great Apostasy (which began in 1033), or the crimes of the current apostate antipopes and the deeper dogma that non-Catholics cannot hold offices, or the politics and condition of the nations in the world. Hence, to be guilty for not condemning the Fatima message as a lie and diversion, one must either have that knowledge or be culpably ignorant of that knowledge.

At times even good Catholics (the elect, those predestined for heaven) can be deceived by the Devil. Jesus said,

"For there shall arise false Christs and false prophets, and shall shew great signs and wonders, insomuch as to deceive (if possible) even the elect." (Mt. 24:24)

As long as those who are deceived by the Devil do not fall into mortal sin because of the deception, then it does not mortally harm them. God could have allowed the children to be deceived in order to, in turn, deceive nominal Catholics who were worthy of being deceived. To be saved, the children must have fulfilled the following things when they died:

- 1. They must have known and believed all the basic dogmas.
- 2. They must not have culpably doubted or denied a deeper dogma.
- 3. They must have belonged to a Catholic church, which means the local church they belonged to did not doubt or deny a basic dogma or did not culpably doubt or deny a deeper dogma or was not in formal schism.
- 4. They must not have been guilty of any mortal sins of omission or association.
- 5. They must not have been in religious communion with persons who they knew or should have known were not Catholic.
- 6. They must not have been in formal schism from good Catholics.
- 7. They must not have been guilty of any mortal sins against the moral law, or any other mortal sins.

Sincerely,

Richard Joseph Michael Ibranyi To Jesus through Mary

Original version: 11/2014; Current version: 11/2014

Mary's Little Remnant

302 East Joffre St. Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901-2878, USA Website: <u>www.JohnTheBaptist.us</u> (Send for a free catalog)